1958

Milne Truck Line, Inc. et al v. Public Service Commission of Utah et al : Brief of Petitioners

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises on a writ to review the action of respondent Public Service Commission of Utah in granting to respondent Union Pacific Motor Freight Company

a certificate of convenience and necessity to operate as a common motor carrier of property in intrastate commerce within the State of Utah.

The question presented is whether the Public Service Commission of Utah may lawfully issue to a wholly owned subsidiary of a common carrier by rail a certificate of convenience and necessity to engage in highway motor carrier transportation supplemental to the operations of the parent company, without proof of public need for such additional transportation or the inadequacy of existing motor carrier service. Petitioners assert that such an order is beyond the power of the respondent Public Service Commission of Utah and unlawful.

For the purpose of convenience, parties to this proceeding or referred to herein will sometimes be designated as follows: Respondent Public Service Commission of Utah as the "Commission," Respondent Union Pacific Motor Freight Company as "Union Pacific," Union Pacific Railroad Company as the "Railroad Company," Petitioner Milne Truck Line, Inc., as "Milne," Petitioner Salt Lake-Kanab Freight Lines, Inc., as "Salt Lake-Kanab," Petitioner Palmer Bros., Inc., as "Palmer," Petitioner Grant Crockett, doing business as Murray and Midvale Truck Line as "Murray and Midvale," Petitioner Consolidated Freightways, Inc., as "Consolidated," and Petitioner Carbon Motorway, Inc., as "Carbon." Emphasis has been supplied.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Union Pacific Motor Freight Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Union Pacific Railroad Company. In December, 1949, under Case No. 3466, Union Pacific filed with the Commission its application to operate as a motor common carrier of property for hire in intrastate commerce, seeking authority to transport general commodities in less-than-carload shipments, with certain exceptions not material here, in highway motor carrier service supplemental and auxiliary to and coordinated with freight service of the Railroad Company over regular routes between points and places within the State of Utah served by the Railroad Company. Under date of September 28, 1950, the Commission issued its report and order, pursuant to which it granted Union Pacific limited operating rights in the State of Utah. The Commission found, however, that the existing transportation services by motor common carriers in all other parts of the state, between points and places therein where applicant corporation had proposed its transportation service, were then adequate. Accordingly, the Commission while granting Union Pacific limited authority, in all other respects denied the application. (R. 465-472)

On January 28, 1958, Union Pacific filed its further application in Case 3466-Sub 1, seeking in substance to obtain the authority which was denied by the Commission in said Case 3466. By the application in this Case 3466-Sub 1 here under review, the Railroad Company, through the instrumentality of its wholly owned subsidiary Union Pacific, seeks to institute a service whereby it will trans-

fer from rail movement all less-than-carload traffic and engage in the movement of such traffic over the highways of the State of Utah between stations which are now served by the Railroad Company. (R. 433-442)

Under the application Union Pacific proposed that the traffic will move on rail rates and under rail billing. It will not be limited by a prior or subsequent rail movement. It is proposed that such traffic will largely originate by being picked up at the shipper's place of business either by Union Pacific or a contract drayman and delivered to the dock or freight house of the Railroad Company. It will then be loaded on over-the-road trucks which will be operated by Union Pacific and delivered to the depot of the Railroad Company at various points within the State and from such point delivered to the consignee by contract draymen or the delivery will be made by Union Pacific directly to the consignee at such points as the Railroad Company has no delivery service. So far as the public is concerned this is essentially the same kind of service that is now being performed by petitioners. (R. 433-438, 7-19)

The interest of petitioners herein is as follows: Milne is not engaged in any direct service to the points which Union Pacific proposes to serve, however, Milne is engaged in interlining traffic with Consolidated and Carbon and is apprehensive that if the authority granted to Union Pacific is sustained such interchange traffic would be impaired and it is also apprehensive that Union Pacific may extend its operations to Cedar City, where Milne now serves. Salt Lake-Kanab serves the point of

Nephi which the Commission authorized Union Pacific to serve. Palmer does not serve the points authorized to be served by Union Pacific. However, one of the principal points served by Palmer is Delta and it is apprehensive that Union Pacific may extend its service from Lynndyl to Delta. Murray and Midvale serves points in Salt Lake County which Union Pacific is authorized to serve. Consolidated operates from Salt Lake City to Weber, Box Elder and Cache County points and the service authorized by Union Pacific would largely duplicate the operating authority of Consolidated. Carbon serves Utah County points and the service of Union Pacific would also largely duplicate that authority. (R. 298-354)

By paragraph 17 of its application, Union Pacific alleges that:

“17. The granting of the certificate applied for will not be detrimental to the best interests of the people of the State of Utah, but on the contrary, public convenience and necessity require the proposed service in order that rail service over the Union Pacific Railroad lines in the territory may be operated more efficiently and economically, and in order that additional boxcars may be available to serve the public generally in boxcar service.” (R. 437)

Mr. Burchell, counsel for Union Pacific, in response to a question of Commissioner Budge, stated the purpose of the application as follows:

“The purpose of the application, I might state, and the evidence will show is to save freight and passenger train expense, to save high-class

boxcars, and enable us to operate more efficiently the service which we are now operating by railroad and by motor carrier in interstate commerce." (R. 9)

On the theory and basis of these allegations and representations, hearing was had on said application in Case 3466-Sub 1. No evidence of any substance whatever was introduced indicating that there was any public need for the proposed service, nor that the protesting carriers were in any way deficient in discharging their duties to the public. Moreover, the evidence shows that Consolidated and Carbon, the two motor carriers most vitally affected by the Union Pacific application, had idle equipment and had laid off employees because of the shrinkage in traffic during the current year. (R. 305, 325-26)

Upon the hearing being closed, the Commission on June 3, 1958, issued the report and order here under review. By paragraph 7 of the report of June 3, 1958, the Commission found as follows:

"7. The granting of said application will undoubtedly benefit the railroad company in saving expense in the operation of its train service over said routes and in the release to it for carload shipments of a large number of box cars now used on said routes for LCL traffic. The applicant will likewise benefit by way of an increase of commodities for transportation in its presently partially loaded trucks. These benefits may to a degree prejudice competitors of the applicant because of inroads upon their business. However, there is a larger aspect of this matter to which benefits or disadvantages resulting to the parties concerned

must be subordinated, and that is the public interest. It is public convenience and necessity with which the Commission is primarily concerned. Improved methods of transportation by an already operating carrier are to be encouraged and regrettable as it may be that some other carrier may suffer, that fact is not a sufficient reason for preventing the use of improved methods; and this is so even though present service by present methods may in one sense be adequate. In one case wherein the same applicant was before the Wyoming Commission (*Union Pacific Motor Freight Company v. Gallagher Transfer & Storage Co.*, 264 Pac. (2) 771) the granting of a similar application was approved by the Supreme Court of Wyoming, even though the railroad company, as in the case before us, was not a party to the proceeding. *Although there is in this case no evidence that the routes in question are not adequately served*, we hold with the Wyoming court and the Supreme Court of the United States (*ICC v. Parker*, 326 US 60) that such evidence is not necessary as a condition to granting a certificate for a different and improved method of operation by an already certificated carrier. If the proposed service will result in a better and more economical service the railroad company should be permitted, in the public interest, to adopt the improved method."

It is thus seen that the Commission made no finding that there was any public need for the proposed service, or that the protesting carriers were in any way deficient in the discharge of their duties to the public, or that any type or kind of service would be rendered by Union Pacific which is not now provided by the protesting motor

carriers. The Commission in effect concludes that neither evidence nor a finding of public convenience and necessity are necessary where a rail carrier is instituting highway transportation service.

The question is therefore squarely presented as to whether a rail carrier which seeks in effect to terminate its L.C.L. operations by rail and undertakes to move such traffic over the highways may engage in such operations simply on a showing that such operations will be advantageous to the rail carrier regardless of whether there is any public need for the new transportation proposed and regardless of whether the existing carriers who have developed their business over a period of years are fully and adequately discharging their duty to the public.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

I.

UNION PACIFIC BY ITS APPLICATION BEFORE THE COMMISSION SOUGHT TO INITIATE A NEW AND DIFFERENT SYSTEM OF TRANSPORTATION SERVICE.

II.

THE SERVICE PROPOSED BY UNION PACIFIC COULD BE LAWFULLY AUTHORIZED ONLY UPON A FINDING OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY.

III.

NO FINDING OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY AS REQUIRED BY THE STATUTE WAS MADE BY THE COMMISSION.

ARGUMENT

I.

UNION PACIFIC BY ITS APPLICATION BEFORE
THE COMMISSION SOUGHT TO INITIATE A NEW
AND DIFFERENT SYSTEM OF TRANSPORTATION
SERVICE.

Argument is hardly necessary to demonstrate the fact that the service proposed by Union Pacific is a new and different system of transportation. The Railroad Company, through its subsidiary Union Pacific, proposes without giving up its authority to transport L.C.L. shipments by rail, to largely terminate the practice of doing so and to transfer all of such traffic to the highways. In other words, it proposes to engage in truck transportation in lieu of rail transportation for substantially all L.C.L. traffic.

With the rise of the motor truck and the development of modern highways there has arisen over the nation a system of truck transportation. That system is now in competition with and in contrast to the system of rail transportation which developed during the last half of the Nineteenth Century. The essential features of the two systems of transportation are a matter of common knowledge. As the truck transportation system developed, it became necessary to regulate that transportation both in interstate commerce and within the several states. As a part of such regulation statutes have been passed prescribing the conditions under which the authority to engage in such transportation might be granted. Pursuant to such statutes a great many applications for cer-

tificates of convenience and necessity have been made to the Commission. These applications have been opposed in many instances by the rail carriers which gave rise to a whole series of cases which have been before this Court. The Railroad Company, through the instrumentality of its wholly owned subsidiary Union Pacific, by this application, proposes largely to abandon its traditional method of moving L.C.L. traffic and to embrace the system of highway transportation for such movement. In other words, it proposes, as to this traffic, to move from one system of transportation to the other. That this is a new and different service is quite obvious. The Commission well recognized that fact when Commissioner Hacking after hearing the statements of counsel as to the purpose of the application made the following observation :

“COM. HACKING: I think this is certainly true, that in spite of Mr. Miner’s statement, if you have correctly quoted him that it is not an enlargement of authority, it certainly would be an enlargement of authority to add two authorities where there is only one now existing. That is, both rail and highway authority would certainly be an enlargement of authority.

“On the question of — in your case, Mr. Peterson, of changed route, that is another situation of perhaps enlargement of authority, and those matters, of course, must all be considered by the Commission on the basis of the evidence that is adduced here.

“Now, under their petition they are asking for a substitute — or an additional way of serving their shippers. I think that the understandings of all of us are the same, that what would be the

result of a grant of this authority would be a high-way service that would be maybe something different, vastly different than the railroad service now furnished.

“The fact of the business is, the whole purpose of the application is to substitute what by the railroad must be considered a more economical and a more efficient way of serving the public, or they wouldn’t file the application.” (R. 65-66)

It is well recognized, that truck transportation for short distances is more flexible, more speedy and generally more satisfactory than rail transportation. These facts are illustrated by the testimony of the witness Koplin, Traffic Manager of Salt Lake Hardware Company called by Union Pacific, who in response to questions on that subject, testified as follows :

“Q. Mr. Koplin, as I understand your view on these l.c.l. shipments moving on short hauls, that you prefer truck to rail.

A. I think that’s right. I can see a conservation of equipment in using trucks for short hauls as compared to cars, which seems to average only about 4,000 pounds. I think a car was never designed for that kind of service.

Q. What about flexibility by truck?

A. It is far greater.

Q. Generally speaking, it is more speedy, is it not?

A. Oh, yes; we have found it that way. As a general rule, a truck will deliver from the truck without having to go into the terminal, and in the case of a car, of course, it has to go into a

terminal to be unloaded on l.c.l. freight I am speaking of, of course." (R. 292-293)

The courts have recognized that truck transportation affords a service to the public different from rail transportation. This Court had occasion to do so in *Salt Lake & Utah R. Corp., et al. v. Public Service Commission of Utah, et al.*, 106 Utah 403, 149 P. 2d 647, where at page 407 of the Utah Report the following statement is made:

"... It may be that if the grant of a certificate of necessity and convenience had been made to another railroad company, that under the facts of this case the order of the commission might have been arbitrary and capricious. But the grant was not made to another railroad line, but to a motor carrier, which gives a different kind of service to the public..."

There would seem to be no doubt that the service proposed by Union Pacific is certainly a new and different service.

II.

THE SERVICE PROPOSED BY UNION PACIFIC
COULD BE LAWFULLY AUTHORIZED ONLY UPON
A FINDING OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND
NECESSITY.

The Commission has no common law authority. Its power and jurisdiction arises entirely from the statutes. In enacting Chapter 65, Laws of Utah, 1935, the legislature undertook to deal with the subject of transportation by motor vehicle. That Act with certain amendments is now embodied in Chapter 6 of Title 54, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

Under Section 1 of that Chapter, common motor carriers of property are defined, by Section 2 all common motor carriers of property are declared to be common carriers and subject to the Act, under Section 3 common carriers of property must operate in accordance with the provisions of the Act, and by Section 5 it is made unlawful for any common motor carrier to operate in intrastate commerce without first obtaining a certificate of convenience and necessity. Section 5 further provides the circumstances under which a certificate of convenience and necessity may be issued as follows:

“54-6-5. . . If the commission finds from the evidence that the public convenience and necessity require the proposed service or any part thereof it may issue the certificate as prayed for, or issue it for the partial exercise only of the privilege sought, and may attach to the exercise of the right granted by such certificate such terms and conditions as in its judgment the public convenience and necessity may require, otherwise such certificate shall be denied. . . .”

Union Pacific in its application to the Commission (R. 433-448) sets forth in paragraph 4 thereof that it proposes to operate as a common carrier by motor vehicle for the transportation of general commodities, with certain exceptions, in highway motor service supplemental and auxiliary to and coordinated with the freight service of the Union Pacific Railroad Company. It sets forth its operating authority then held and how it proposed to conduct its operations under the application. Its application in other respects sets out the matters which are

necessary to procure a certificate of convenience and necessity, namely, its financial responsibility, that the highways would not be overcrowded by the granting of the certificate, and that it would comply with all of the requirements of law and the orders of the Commission.

It seems clear from the allegations of the application and the presentation of the same to the Commission that Union Pacific recognizes that it stands in precisely the same position as any other applicant seeking motor carrier authority, and like any other applicant it is controlled by the power and jurisdiction of the Commission.

This Court has recognized that a utility which is already rendering a public service, if it seeks to enter a new field or render a new or different service, must comply with the requirements of convenience and necessity. In *Mulcahy, et al. v. Public Service Commission of Utah, et al.*, 101 Utah 245, 117 P. 2d 298, this Court gave careful consideration to this entire problem, and at page 252 of the Utah Report pointed out that:

“When a utility *desires to enter a new field or to render a new or different service*, it must, as a condition to receiving a certificate to so perform, show that service sought to be given is one of ‘public convenience and necessity’ *Fuller-Toponce Truck Co. v. Public Service Comm. of Utah*, 99 Utah 28, 96 P. 2d 722, 724. . . .”

In pointing out the procedure to be followed this Court at page 260 of the Utah Report further observed that:

“. . . While evidence pertinent to any question involved in the application may be presented

on the hearing, the commission's determinations would proceed as follows: *Does the public convenience and necessity require further, new or additional common carrier service in the territory proposed to be served?* If not, the application should be denied. . . ."

We can find nothing in our statutes which would justify the contention or position that a rail carrier, seeking, through a wholly owned subsidiary, to change its form of transportation on L.C.L. traffic from rail to highway, is relieved of the burden, imposed by our statute, of proving public convenience and necessity. A wholly owned subsidiary of a rail carrier seeking to engage in motor carrier transportation stands in the same position as any other applicant.

III.

NO FINDING OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY AS REQUIRED BY THE STATUTE WAS MADE BY THE COMMISSION.

This Court has, in several cases, had occasion to consider the question of the elements involved in the statutory requirement of "public convenience and necessity." This whole subject was carefully explored in *Mulcahy, et al. v. Public Service Commission, et al., supra*, where at page 252 of the Utah Report the rule is stated as follows:

" . . . And in determining whether or not the convenience and necessity of the public will be best subserved by the proposed service, the needs and welfare of the people of the territory or commun-

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