1958

Milne Truck Line, Inc. et al v. Public Service Commission of Utah et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

the facilities of protestant motor carriers, the railroad would be required to make arrangements with several of them, each performing a more or less disjointed part of the service. The railroad, through its subsidiary, merely seeks the substitution of a more efficient for a less efficient means of service.

“* * *

“The motor carrier service proposed by applicant, operated in close coordination with the railroad’s service, will effectuate a reduction in cost, and will result in an increase in efficiency in the transportation over the routes herein considered, which will inure to the benefit of the general public. Furthermore, it does not appear that the restricted service would be directly competitive or unduly prejudicial to the operations of any other motor carrier. We are not impressed by protestants’ contentions and are of the opinion that the proposed coordinated service will serve a useful public purpose, and that such useful public purpose cannot be served as well by existing motor carriers. * * *”

The protesting motor carriers brought the matter before a special three-judge federal court. Such Federal District Court, without a written opinion, granted an injunction against the I.C.C. order. The matter was then appealed to the United States Supreme Court, where it is designated as “*I.C.C. v. Parker*,” 326 U. S. 60, 65 S. Ct. 1490, 89 L. Ed. 2051. The United States Supreme Court reversed the three-judge District Court and affirmed the Commission’s grant of a certificate. In referring to proceedings before the Commission, the Supreme Court stated at page 63:

“The operation of the order of the Commission was enjoined by the district court because there was no substantial evidence to support the order of the

Commission that public convenience and necessity required the issuance of a certificate to Willett. The district court said in the findings of fact that *there was no proof that the present highway, common motor carrier transportation service by certificated carriers was or would be inadequate to serve the public need.* * * *

The Supreme Court referred to the federal statute giving the I.C.C. authority to regulate motor carriers, which provides:

“* * * No motor vehicle subject to the Act may operate on the highways without a certificate of public convenience and necessity. * * *

Such statute provides for the issuance of the certificate on application “*if the proposed service ‘is or will be required by the present or future public convenience and necessity.’*”

With respect to this the Supreme Court stated P. 65:

“Public convenience and necessity is not defined by the statute. The nouns in the phrase possess connotations which have evolved from the half century experience of government in the regulation of transportation. * * * The disputants, here, do not clash over the power of the Commission to determine the need for the new service or that it will serve the public convenience and necessity. *The evidence is ample and uncontradicted that delivery by motor of less than carload freight to way stations is a more adequate, efficient and economical method for railroads than by ‘peddler’ car. They join issue on the Commission’s determination as to the carrier which will render that service. Shall it be by the railroad*

through the use of its trucking subsidiary or by the existing common carriers by motor?"

The Court refers to Senate Committee hearings leading up to the amendment of the Transportation Act to its 1940 terms, and quotes as authority statements made in such committee hearings by Chairman Eastman of the I.C.C. approving and recommending the granting of this substitute and auxiliary authority for the handling of local L.C.L. rail traffic.

The court's opinion continues P. 68:

"* * * The existing schedules of protestants do not fit into the needs of the projected service. Common management of railroad and trucks gave promise of better cooperation than would be obtained by arm's length contracts or agreements. While the evidence shows that there were operating truck lines in the area which individually could serve all the way-stations by securing extensions to their present routes, it also shows that no motor carrier is now in a position to render this complete service. (Cases cited.) The Commission on this evidence had a basis to conclude that a railroad subsidiary offered the most satisfactory facilities for making less-than-carload deliveries to way-stations.

*"The contention of appellees, protestant motor carriers, is that since no evidence was offered as to the inadequacy of the present duly certificated motor carriers to serve the railroad's need, there was a failure of proof as to convenience of and necessity for a new motor truck operation in the territory. * * **
In protestants' view a certificate of convenience and necessity should not be granted to railroads for motor truck operation when existing motor carriers are capable of rendering the same service. Appellants

take the position that this precise issue need not be decided in this case. They look upon the application as asking for authority to improve 'an existing service.' *We think that it was for a motor service to improve an existing rail service.* Consequently, the issuance of the certificate is subject to all the requirements of any other application for a certificate for operation of motor lines. *Since, however, on adequate evidence the Commission found that the motor service sought was of a different character from the existing motor service and not directly competitive or unduly prejudicial to the already certificated motor carriers, 42 M.C.C. 725-26, we hold that the Commission had statutory authority and administrative discretion to order the certificate to issue. The public is entitled to the benefits of improved transportation. Where that improvement depends in the Commission's judgment upon a unified and limited rail-truck operation which is found not 'unduly prejudicial' to motor carrier operations, the Commission may authorize the certificate even though the existing carriers might arrange to furnish successfully the projected service."*

P. 72:

"* * *

"Administrative discretion rests with the Commission to further improvements in transportation. The Interstate Commerce Act contains no provision by which the Commission may compel non-rail motor carriers to coordinate their road service with rail service or may compel rail carriers to coordinate their service with motor carriers. *When in railroad applications for coordinated motor service the Commission finds public convenience and necessity for such motor service on evidence of transportation advantages to shippers and economy to the rail carriers, cf. Texas v. United States, 292 U. S. 522, 530,*

it is in a position to determine by its administrative discretion whether the projected service may be better rendered by the railroad or existing motor carriers. In the absence of power to compel coordination between the modes of transportation and in the presence of the probable gains in operative efficiency from unified management, we think the Commission, in view of the limitations on the railroad's motor service, is entitled to conclude that the public will be better served by the rail operation than by use of the available motor carrier facilities. * * *

The major premise upon which the I.C.C. and the courts have found public convenience and necessity in connection with rail-truck operations is not that there was or was not already adequate motor carrier service in the field but that the railroad companies were already in the field performing LCL merchandise service and were entitled—in fact, required—to continue this merchandise service, but were not required to continue it in a wasteful or expensive manner by the handling of only partially filled rail cars on way trains, with expensive crews, but in order to release needed boxcars and to improve such transportation in the public interest must be allowed to handle the traffic in trucks. The Commission has held many times that the “reduction in the cars and increase in the efficiency of transportation service inures to the benefit of the general public and is required by public convenience and necessity.” See *Kansas City Southern Transport, Inc.—Common Carrier Application*, 28 M.C.C. 5 at page 9. In this Kansas City case the Commission stated:

“The traffic under consideration, which is chiefly so-called package or merchandise freight in

less-than-carload quantities, is, of course, traffic which the railroads are and have been under an obligation to transport and which they will continue to transport whether we grant or deny the applications. So far as such traffic can be moved in well-loaded cars on through trains which serve only the larger points, it can be handled efficiently by rail, and the railroads have no need to substitute truck service for such rail service. The way-freight train service which is used in serving the smaller stations is, however, uneconomical and inefficient, and trucks can be used in substitution therefor to much advantage both to the railroads and to the public served."

In that case the Commission further stated, at page 10:

"* * * In both its direct and its indirect effect such substitution is in the public interest
* * * *one competitive carrier has no vested right in the continuation by another of an inefficient method of operation, and we believe it to be neither the policy of Congress nor the proper function of this Commission to retard any form of progress in transportation which will serve the public interest.*"

See also the case of *Rock Island M. Transit Co.—Purchase—White Line M. Frt.*, 40 M.C.C. 457, 5 F.C.C. 31,125. *Missouri Pac. R. R. Co. Extension—Illinois and Missouri*, 41 M.C.C. 241.

In the case of *Chesapeake & O. R. Co. v. Public Service Commission* (W. Va.-1953), 81 S. E. 2d 700, a similar application for authority to move intrastate traffic by motor service auxiliary to, and supplementary of train service, came before the Supreme Court of West Virginia.

In that case a large number of regularly certificated motor carriers protested the application. No one of them could serve the entire area, but, as in the *Parker Case*, one or more could serve all of the various parts of the area involved. It appeared that the I.C.C. a short time before had granted authority to applicant to transport interstate traffic by motor vehicle in substitute service and that interstate traffic constituted the large majority of LCL traffic handled by the railway. The court referred to some of the conclusions of the state commission, including the following P. 704:

“* * * Applicant has not abandoned less-than-carload service and it should not be denied the right to improve such service when it elects to do so * * *. The proposed operation is designed solely to improve applicant’s present less-than-truckload service in the territory. The present service is slow, inefficient, and expensive, and it is not satisfactory to applicant and the shipping public. The authority sought will not enable applicant to enter a new field, but will permit it to substitute for the present service a new efficient form of service which will be faster and more economical in the transportation of less-than-carload rail traffic which applicant has been and is obligated to transport * * *.”

Some of the other pertinent facts as referred to by the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia, are as follows:

“Applicant has operated as a railway common carrier of property throughout the Kanawha District for approximately fifty years, and within parts of that district for more than three-fourths of a century. About 1920 it was transporting by rail, within Kanawha District, approximately one hundred fifty

million pounds of less than carload freight per year. In 1952 it was transporting less than six million pounds of less than carload freight per year. * * *

“* * * Applicant contends that such method of handling the less than carload freight transported by it necessarily results in much inefficiency and delay in its overall operations, in that the stopping of its trains for the delivery of single or small shipments necessarily delays the whole train, blocks the use of the tracks as to other trains, engages the time of whole train crews, and requires the use of an unreasonable number of railroad cars. * * * It is also clearly proved, and not denied, that the proposed substitute truck service will result in a much better service for that part of the public now using the facilities of applicant, both as to less than carload freight and carload freight, and both as to intra-state and interstate shipments. *Applicant, however, offered no evidence tending to show that the service being furnished within the Kanawha District by the protestants is inadequate or insufficient.* * * *”

The application was denied by the West Virginia Commission “*for the reason that the evidence failed to ‘show that the motor vehicle service of the protestants is inadequate or insufficient’.*”

The West Virginia statute with respect to issuance of such certificates is very similar to the Utah statute. It requires a finding of public convenience and necessity but, like the Utah statute, does not spell out what is necessary to show public convenience and necessity but leaves that to the “expertise” and discretion of the Commission. In fact, referring to the power so granted to the Commission the court said at 706:

“* * * Indeed, it may be questioned whether this Court has jurisdiction to disturb a finding of

fact by the Public Service Commission where it is supported by substantial evidence. * * *”

Nevertheless, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals reversed its state commission and remanded the matter to the Commission “with directions that such certificate be granted. * * *”

We quote from the court’s opinion P. 707:

“* * * Here there is no question that the evidence establishes that the proposed supplementary service would result in a better service to that part of the public electing to use the railway common carrier service. It is no answer to say that such service may be otherwise available. Applicant operates under proper authority, is one of the present operators in the Kanawha District, and is entitled, in fact should be required, to furnish services commensurate with modern day demands. * * * *Moreover, the facts detailed above establish that the applicant seeks not authority for a new or extended service, but for a different method only of rendering a specialized and limited service it is already authorized and required to render, and which is rendered by no other carrier.*”

Referring to some Ohio cases, the court quoted as follows P. 708:

“* * * In both cases testimony * * * shows * * * that the services will release railroad equipment for other uses; and that operating economies will be afforded to the railroads. In the opinion of this court, the commission had adequate

evidence warranting the granting of the certificates of public convenience and necessity."

"* * *

"* * * 'It should be remembered that the applicant was serving all the communities concerned in the instant cases years before there was any such thing as motor transport service, and, although motor transport service is highly desirable and beneficial when carried on in the public interest, the benefits of it should be enjoyed by railroads when those benefits can be ordered without violating the law and where they are in the public interest. *It is to the public interest that railroads be afforded reasonable and lawful opportunities to effect economies and to improve service to shippers and receivers along railroad lines.*' "

After referring to a number of cases, including the case of *I.C.C. v. Parker*, 326 U. S. 60, 65 S. Ct. 1490, 89 L. Ed. 2051, the opinion continued P. 709:

"The Interstate Commerce Commission consistently grants such authority, as to interstate less than carload freight, in situations where the facts are comparable to the facts in the instant case. * * *

"While it is true that the Public Service Commission of West Virginia must look to the statutes of this State, not to the Acts of Congress relating to interstate commerce, as the Interstate Commerce Commission and Federal Courts do, cooperation in handling problems arising in connection with transportation of interstate and intrastate freight is desirable, in the best interests of the public. To require duplication of essential services would incur unnecessary expense that would necessarily be reflected in tariff rates, paid by the public and, in some cases, at least, would probably stifle commerce. If the statutes of the State relating to transportation

of freight by common carriers are not in conflict with Acts of Congress, they should be considered together in determining what constitutes the best interests of the public in the regulation and supervision of such businesses. * * *

The court further said that the State "*should not assist in the economic strangulation of one of the public servants by refusing to permit improvement in methods of performing the very business it was authorized to do.*"

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